



Outcomes by Tumor Histology and KRAS Mutation Status After Lung Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Early-Stage Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer

Citation

Mak, Raymond H., Gretchen Hermann, John H. Lewis, Hugo J.W.L. Aerts, Elizabeth H. Baldini, Aileen B. Chen, Yolonda L. Colson, et al. 2015. "Outcomes by Tumor Histology and KRAS Mutation Status After Lung Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy for Early-Stage Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer." *Clinical Lung Cancer* 16 (1) (January): 24–32. doi:10.1016/j.clcc.2014.09.005.

Published Version

doi:10.1016/j.clcc.2014.09.005

Permanent link

<http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:29048879>

Terms of Use

This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions applicable to Open Access Policy Articles, as set forth at <http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-use#OAP>

Share Your Story

The Harvard community has made this article openly available.
Please share how this access benefits you. [Submit a story](#).

[Accessibility](#)

1 **Outcomes by Tumor Histology and KRAS Mutation Status after Lung Stereotactic**
2 **Body Radiation Therapy for Early Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer**

3
4

5 Raymond H. Mak, M.D.^{1,2}, Gretchen Hermann, B.A.¹, John H. Lewis, Ph.D.^{1,2}, Hugo
6 J.W.L. Aerts, Ph.D.^{1,2,3}, Elizabeth H. Baldini, M.D., M.P.H.^{1,2}, Aileen B. Chen, M.D.,
7 M.P.P.^{1,2}, Yolonda L. Colson, M.D., Ph.D.^{4,2}, Fred H. Hacker, Ph.D.^{1,2}, David Kozono,
8 M.D., Ph.D.^{1,2}, Jon O. Wee, M.D.^{4,2}, Yu-Hui Chen, M.S.⁵, Paul J. Catalano, Sc.D.^{5,6},
9 Kwok-Kin Wong, M.D., Ph.D.^{7,2}, David J. Sher, M.D., M.P.H.⁸

10

11 ¹*Department of Radiation Oncology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute / Brigham and*
12 *Women's Hospital, ²Harvard Medical School, ³Department of Radiology, Brigham and*
13 *Women's Hospital, ⁴Division of Thoracic Surgery, Brigham and Women's Hospital,*
14 ⁵*Department of Biostatistics and Computational Biology, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute,*
15 ⁶*Department of Biostatistics, Harvard School of Public Health, ⁷Lowe Center for Thoracic*
16 *Oncology and Belfer Institute for Applied Cancer Science, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute,*
17 ⁸*Department of Radiation Oncology, Rush University Medical Center*

18

19 Corresponding Author: **Raymond H. Mak, M.D.**

20 Address: Department of Radiation Oncology, Brigham and Women's Hospital, 75

21 Francis Street, ASB1-L2, Boston, MA, 02115.

22 Phone:617-632-3591

23 Fax:617-632-4247

24 Email:rmak@lroc.harvard.edu

25

26

1 **Conflicts of Interest Statement:**

2 We would like to make the following disclosures:

- 3 • A.B. Chen reports grant support from the American Cancer Society and
4 American Society of Radiation Oncology, unrelated to the current study
- 5 • J.H. Lewis reports grant support from Varian Medical Systems, unrelated to the
6 current study
- 7 • R.H. Mak reports past consulting fees from Boehringer-Ingelheim, Inc. unrelated
8 to the current study
- 9 • K.-K. Wong reports grant support from AstraZeneca and Takeda, unrelated to the
10 current study
- 11 • All other authors have no conflicts to report

12

13

1 **MICROABSTRACT:**

2 We analyzed outcomes after lung stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for early
3 stage non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) in patients by histology and KRAS
4 mutation status. Histology was not associated with outcomes, but KRAS mutation was
5 associated with lower freedom from recurrence on univariable analysis, and decreased
6 cancer-specific survival on multivariable analysis. Given the small sample sizes, these
7 results are hypothesis-generating and further study of SBRT outcomes by tumor
8 genotype in larger datasets is needed.

Ray 9/20/14 2:54 PM
Deleted: with KRAS-mutant versus KRAS-wild-type/unknown tumors

Ray 9/20/14 2:54 PM
Deleted: significantly

Ray 9/20/14 2:55 PM
Deleted: F

Ray 9/20/14 2:55 PM
Deleted: warranted

10 **ABSTRACT:**

11 **BACKGROUND:**

12 We analyzed outcomes after lung stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) for early
13 stage non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) by histology and KRAS genotype,

Ray 9/20/14 2:55 PM
Deleted: in patients with KRAS-mutant versus KRAS-wild-type/unknown tumors

15 **PATIENTS AND METHODS:**

16 We included 75 patients with 79 peripheral tumors treated with SBRT (18 Gray x 3 or 10-
17 12 Gray x 5) at our institution from 2009-2012. Genotyping for KRAS mutations was
18 performed in 10 patients. Outcomes were analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier (KM)
19 method/Cox regression, or cumulative incidence method/Fine-Gray analysis.

21 **RESULTS:**

22 The median patient age was 74 (range, 46-93) and ECOG performance status was 0-1
23 in 63%. Tumor histology included adenocarcinoma (44%), squamous cell carcinoma
24 (25%), NSCLC (18%). Most tumors were T1a (54%). Seven patients had KRAS-mutant
25 tumors (9%).

26

1 With a median follow-up of 18.8 months among survivors, the 1-year estimate of
2 overall survival (OS) was 88%, cancer-specific survival (CSS) 92%, primary tumor
3 control (TC) 94%, and freedom from recurrence (FFR) 67%. In patients with *KRAS*-
4 mutant tumors, there was a significantly lower TC (67% vs. 96%; p=0.04), FFR (48% vs.
5 69%; p=0.03), and CSS (75% vs. 93%; p=0.05). On multivariable analysis, histology
6 was not associated with outcomes, but *KRAS* mutation (HR: 10.3, 95% CI: 2.3-45.6;
7 p=0.0022) was associated with decreased CSS after adjusting for age.

8

9 **CONCLUSION:**

10 In this SBRT series, histology was not associated with outcomes, but *KRAS* mutation
11 was associated with lower FFR on univariable analysis, and decreased CSS on
12 multivariable analysis. Due to small sample size, these hypothesis-generating results
13 need to be studied in larger datasets.

14

15 **Keywords:** Stereotactic body radiation therapy; Non-small cell lung cancer; Early stage;
16 *KRAS*

17 **Short Title:** SBRT outcomes in *KRAS*-mutant NSCLC

18

Ray 9/20/14 2:57 PM
Deleted: significantly

Ray 9/20/14 2:58 PM
Deleted: Further study of SBRT outcomes by tumor genotype

Ray 9/20/14 3:59 PM
Deleted: is warranted

1 **INTRODUCTION:**

2 Stereotactic body radiation therapy (SBRT) has emerged as the treatment of
3 choice for medically inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) in the past
4 decade. Multiple prospective¹⁻³ and retrospective⁴⁻⁶ series of different SBRT regimens
5 have demonstrated very high local control (80-90% at 2-3 years), high overall survival
6 (50-60%) and cancer-specific survival rates (60-70%) compared to historical series of
7 patients treated with conventionally fractionated radiation therapy (RT). However, in
8 these series, both regional and distant recurrences remain an issue with reported
9 incidences of 5-13% and 14-25%, respectively.^{1, 2, 4, 6} Thus, developing prognostic
10 markers that identify patients at highest risk for recurrence after SBRT remains an
11 important area for further research.

12
13 Alongside the emergence of SBRT technology, advances in cancer genomics in
14 the last decade have identified genetically distinct sub-groups of lung adenocarcinoma
15 defined by mutations in oncogenes such as *v-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene*
16 *homolog (KRAS)* and *epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)*.⁷ The unique biology of
17 each genotypic sub-group has led to the development of personalized, “genotype-
18 directed” therapy in the stage IV setting resulting in the widespread adoption of clinical
19 *EGFR* mutation testing and evidence that first line *EGFR* tyrosine kinase inhibitor
20 therapy results in improved outcomes.⁸⁻¹⁰

21
22 However, the role of tumor genotype in earlier stages of disease remains under-
23 studied and controversial. *KRAS* mutation status has been studied extensively as both a
24 prognostic factor and predictor of response to chemotherapy in stage I NSCLC patients
25 with conflicting, inconclusive results.¹¹⁻¹⁷ Furthermore, the radiation responsiveness and
26 clinical outcomes after RT for the genotypic subgroups of NSCLC have not been well

1 elucidated. Prior studies have shown possible associations between NSCLC genotype
2 and response to RT. For example, retrospective series have demonstrated that patients
3 with locally advanced *EGFR* mutant NSCLC had lower risk of locoregional failure
4 compared to *EGFR*-wild-type patients after chemotherapy and conventional RT,¹⁸⁻²⁰
5 while patients with *KRAS*-mutant LA-NSCLC had decreased overall survival compared
6 to those with *KRAS*-wild-type tumors.¹⁹ However, it remains unclear if differences in
7 radiation response by genotype is relevant at the higher doses delivered with SBRT.
8

9 Since patients receiving SBRT for stage I NSCLC typically have substantial
10 medical co-morbidities that often preclude adjuvant chemotherapy, this patient subset
11 provides a unique population to study *KRAS*-genotype as a potential prognostic marker.
12 In this retrospective study, we build on these prior studies by performing an analysis of
13 patients with stage I NSCLC treated with SBRT, and analyzing outcomes after SBRT by
14 tumor histology and *KRAS*-genotype.

Ray 9/20/14 2:59 PM

Deleted: in relation to radiation responsiveness and

Ray 9/20/14 3:35 PM

Deleted: comparing

15

16 **MATERIALS AND METHODS:**

17 *Patients:*

18 With Institutional Review Board approval under a waiver of consent, we reviewed
19 the records of 75 consecutive patients with newly diagnosed early stage NSCLC treated
20 with SBRT from 2009 to 2012 at our institution. Patients who received SBRT for locally
21 recurrent disease, local progression of advanced stage disease or metastases to the
22 lung from other sites of primary disease were excluded.

23

24 *Tumor Genotyping*

25 Ten patients had their tumors genotyped for activating *KRAS* mutations as part of
26 routine clinical care at the discretion of the treating physician, either in our institution's

1 pathology department or in a commercial laboratory. Briefly, in all cases, DNA was
2 isolated from tumor in paraffin-embedded tissue specimens and polymerase chain
3 reaction using primers specific for codon 12, 13 and 61 of the *KRAS* gene was
4 performed.²¹ The primer extension products were then analyzed by capillary gel
5 electrophoresis. Only one patient's tumor sample underwent testing for EGFR mutation
6 status and none were tested for ALK mutation status. Thus, these tumor characteristics
7 were not assessed.

8

9 *Covariates:*

10 Pre-treatment patient characteristics were collected, including age, gender, race,
11 ECOG performance status (PS), and smoking history. Smoking status was categorized
12 as: 1) never smokers; < 100 cigarettes in their lifetime; 2) former smokers; quit smoking
13 >1 year prior to diagnosis, and 3) current smokers; smoking at the time of diagnosis or
14 had quit < 1 year prior. Tumor characteristics were noted, including histology and TNM
15 stage according to 7th edition of the AJCC Staging Manual. Treatment characteristics
16 including SBRT prescribed dose, SBRT technique (conformal or volumetric modulated
17 arc therapy), and biologically effective dose delivered (BED) were collected.

18

19 *SBRT Treatment and Follow-up:*

20 All patients were treated with SBRT per institutional norms, which included 1)
21 restriction of SBRT to peripheral tumors as defined in RTOG 0236;² 2) use of abdominal
22 compression to restrict tumor motion < 1 cm; 3) 4D-CT planning to create an internal
23 target volume (ITV); 4) a 5 mm planning target volume (PTV) margin with no clinical
24 target volume (CTV) margin; 5) dose of 10-12 Gy x 5 fractions for tumors close to the
25 chest wall and 18 Gy x 3 fractions for all other tumors; 6) daily setup and image-guided

1 treatment with Exac Trac®, cone-beam CT, and portal imaging using a linear
2 accelerator.

3 Patients were followed every 3-4 months after treatment for the first two years
4 with a chest CT, then every 6 months for the next three years, and annually thereafter.

5

6 *Outcomes*

7 Overall survival (OS), cancer-specific survival (CSS) and patterns of failure,
8 including local tumor control (TC; absence of tumor recurrence in-field or within 1 cm of
9 PTV), lobar control (LC; including local tumor control and absence of recurrence in the
10 same lobe), regional control (RC; absence of hilar and mediastinal recurrences), local-
11 regional control (LRC; composite endpoint of lobar and regional control), freedom from
12 distant metastases (FFDM), freedom from any recurrence (FFR), and recurrence-free
13 survival (RFS; survival with absence of LRR or DM) were calculated from the date of
14 completion of SBRT treatment to the time of first failure.

15

16 CSS was defined as absence of death from NSCLC, and cause of death was
17 ascertained by death certificates when available. In cases where death certificates were
18 not available, death with active, progressing NSCLC and/or enrollment on hospice for
19 NSCLC prior to death was considered death from NSCLC. TC and LC were defined
20 based on the definitions outlined in RTOG 0236. In brief, primary tumor failure was
21 defined as (1) local enlargement defined as at least a 20% increase in the longest
22 diameter of the gross tumor volume per CT scan and (2) evidence of tumor viability
23 (either PET-CT demonstrating FDG-uptake of similar intensity as the pretreatment
24 staging PET, or with pathologic confirmation via biopsy). Primary tumor failure included
25 marginal failures occurring within 1 cm of the planning target volume (1.5-2.0 cm from

1 the gross tumor volume). Failure beyond the primary tumor but within the involved lobe
2 was also ascertained and lobar control was defined as absence of primary tumor and/or
3 involved lobe failure. Censoring for patients without disease progression was performed
4 at the date of the last re-staging study (any chest CT or PET-CT) without evidence of
5 progression.

6

7 *Statistical Analyses*

8 Descriptive statistics were used to characterize patients at study entry.
9 Differences in the distribution of categorical variables and continuous variables by *KRAS*
10 mutation status were analyzed using Fisher's exact and Wilcoxon rank sum tests,
11 respectively.

12 OS, and all patterns of failure outcomes were analyzed using the Kaplan-Meier
13 method and log-rank test. For the TC and LC endpoints, all tumors treated were
14 included in the analysis, whereas the other endpoints were analyzed on a per patient
15 basis.

16 Cox regression analysis was performed to identify predictors of each outcome.
17 As the risk of failures was changed due to the administration of systemic treatment
18 during the follow-up period, a Cox proportional hazards regression model with systemic
19 treatment as a time-dependent covariate was used to evaluate the associations between
20 patient/tumor characteristics and all patterns of failures. Gray's method was used to
21 analyze time to first recurrence with death as a competing risk, and separately CSS with
22 death of other causes as a competing risk. Univariable analysis was performed, and
23 covariates with a p-value less than 0.10 were included in the multivariable analysis.
24 Backward selection was performed to select significant predictors of outcome on
25 multivariable analysis. Competing risk analysis was performed using R 2.10.0 while all
26 the other analyses were performed using SAS version 9.2 (Carey, NC).

1

2 **RESULTS:**

3 *Patients*

4 A total of 75 patients with 79 early stage NSCLC tumors treated by SBRT were
5 included in the analysis. The pre-treatment patient characteristics are shown in Table 1.
6 Tumor histology included adenocarcinoma (44.3%), squamous cell carcinoma (25.3%),
7 and NSCLC, not otherwise specified (NOS; 17.7%), with 12.7% of patients treated
8 based on a radiographic diagnosis. Of ten patients who had tumor genotyping, seven
9 had *KRAS-mutant* tumors, and three were *KRAS* WT including one with an *EGFR*
10 mutation. The *KRAS* mutations were all in Codon 12 including four c.34G>T
11 (p.Gly12Cys), two c.35G>A (Gly12Asp) and one c.35G>T (p.Gly12Val).

12

13 *Treatment:*

14 As shown in Table 1, all patients were treated with SBRT to a BED of at least
15 100 Gy₁₀. Only three patients received chemotherapy, and all of these received
16 induction chemotherapy with platinum doublets (1 *KRAS-mutant* and 2 *KRAS-*
17 *WT/unknown*).

18

19 *Outcomes*

20 With a median follow-up of 18.8 months among survivors, the 1-year estimates of
21 survival are shown in Table 2. The median survival was 26.6 months in all patients, and
22 there was no significant difference in patients with *KRAS-mutant* tumors (median not
23 reached) versus with *KRAS-WT/unknown* tumors (median 26.6 months; p=0.51). CSS
24 was significantly lower in patients with *KRAS-mutant* tumors versus *WT/unknown* on a
25 competing risk analysis with death due to other causes as a competing risk (Figure 1;
26 HR: 4.6; 95% CI: 1.1-19.; p=0.04).

1

2 *Patterns of Recurrence*

3 The 1-year estimates of patterns of recurrence are shown in Table 2. There
4 were three primary tumor recurrences and an additional three intralobar recurrences with
5 1-year TC estimate of 94.2% and 1-year LC estimate of 88.9%. There were 12 nodal
6 recurrences with a 1-year RC estimate of 81.2%, and the 1-year LRC estimate was
7 74.3%. Seventeen patients had a distant recurrence with a 1-year FFDM estimate of
8 72.8%. Sites of distant recurrence included brain (n=3), bone (n=5), liver (n=2),
9 multifocal lung (n=5), pleural effusion (n=1) and abdominal lymph nodes (n=1). There
10 were a total of 22 local and/or distant recurrences with 1-year estimate of FFR of 66.7%
11 and median time to any recurrence of 27.2 months. Three patients were diagnosed with
12 a second primary lung tumor, with a 1-year estimate of 3.7%.

13

14

15 *Outcomes and Patterns of Recurrence by Histology*

16 Comparing the patterns of recurrence in tumors treated without a biopsy (i.e.
17 treated with a radiographic/clinical diagnosis alone; n=10) versus those with biopsy-
18 proven NSCLC (n=69), there was no statistically significant difference in TC (100% vs.
19 93.3%; p=0.51), LC (100% vs. 87.3%; p=0.35), RC (77.1% vs. 82.0%; p=0.74), LRC
20 (77.1% vs. 72.4%; p=0.83), FFDM (61.7% vs. 74.4%; p=0.66), nor FFR (61.7% vs.
21 67.3%; p=0.94).

22

23 There was also no significant difference in patterns of recurrence when
24 comparing by adenocarcinoma (n=35) versus squamous cell carcinoma (n=20), versus
25 NSCLC NOS (n=14), histology with 1-year estimates as follows: TC (85.4% vs. 100% vs.
26 100%; p=0.15), LC (82.6% vs. 85.1% vs. 100%; p=0.36), RC (79.4% vs. 77.3% vs.

1 92.3%; p=0.51), LRC (67.5% vs. 64.9% vs. 92.3%; p=0.25), FFDM (61.5% vs. 84.6% vs.
2 84.6%; p=0.32), or FFR (59.2% vs. 64.9% vs. 84.6%; p=0.35). Nor was there a
3 significant difference in the pair-wise comparisons between the three histological groups
4 (p-values not shown).

5

6 However, in comparing tumors with adenocarcinoma histology (n=35) versus
7 those with either SCC or NSCLC NOS histology (n=34), there was a trend toward
8 decreased TC in adenocarcinomas (85.4% vs. 100%; p=0.053) and all primary tumor
9 failures occurred in tumors of adenocarcinoma histology. However, there was no
10 significant difference in LC (82.6% vs. 91.5%; p=0.28), RC (79.4% vs. 84.2%; p=0.34),
11 LRC (67.5% vs. 76.7%; p=0.22), FFDM (61.5% vs. 85.6%; p=0.13), nor FFR (59.2% vs.
12 74.1%; p=0.23) for adenocarcinoma versus other histologies.

13

14 *Outcomes and Patterns of Recurrence by KRAS Mutation Status*

15 There was no statistically significant difference in OS or RFS when comparing
16 *KRAS-mutant* versus *KRAS-WT/unknown* status (Table 2), but there was a difference in
17 CSS on competing risk analysis with more deaths due to cancer among patients with
18 *KRAS* mutations (1-year estimate: 75.0% vs. 93.3%; p=0.05). As shown in Table 2,
19 there was both decreased TC (p=0.04) and FFR (p=0.03) for *KRAS-mutant* tumors
20 versus those with *KRAS-WT/unknown* status. The patterns of recurrence including sites
21 of first recurrence are shown in Table 3.

22

23 *Univariable and Multivariable Analysis*

24 On univariable analysis, there were no clinical, pathologic nor treatment features
25 associated with primary TC, LC, RC, nor LRC. *KRAS* mutation status was not
26 significantly associated with LC, RC, or LRC, but there was a trend for decreased

1 primary TC (HR: 8.0; 95% CI: 0.82-78.4; p=0.07). On multivariable analysis with
2 backward selection, no variables were associated with any of these local and/or regional
3 recurrence endpoints. Neither univariable nor multivariable analysis with backward
4 selection identified any clinical variables associated with risk of distant recurrence.

5

6 However, univariable analysis of any recurrence demonstrated that *KRAS*
7 mutation status was associated with increased incidence of any recurrence (HR: 3.2;
8 95% CI 1.1-9.6; p=0.04; Table 4). However, no variables were associated with FFR on
9 multivariable analysis with backward selection.

10

11 On univariable and multivariable analysis of CSS with death of other causes as a
12 competing risk, presence of *KRAS* mutation was associated with increased risk of death
13 from lung cancer (HR: 10.3, 95% CI: 2.3-45.6; p=0.0022), after adjusting for age (Table
14 5; Figure 1).

15

16 **DISCUSSION:**

17 In this study of patients treated with SBRT for early stage NSCLC, we
18 demonstrate high primary TC and OS with the predominant sites of failure in regional
19 nodes or distant sites, which is comparable to previously published series.^{1, 2, 6} We
20 performed sub-group analyses to determine whether tumor biology as reflected by tumor
21 histology or genotype was associated with outcomes after SBRT. We demonstrated that
22 tumor histology was not associated with local, regional or distant recurrence, but *KRAS*
23 mutation status was associated with decreased TC and FFR on univariable analysis,
24 and decreased CSS on multivariable analysis.

25

1 Prior SBRT series have shown an association between adenocarcinoma
2 histology and increased risk of distant metastases,² but few have studied association
3 between NSCLC histology and TC. In our series, there was not a clear association
4 between TC and histology, but of note, primary tumor recurrences occurred in only
5 patients with adenocarcinoma histology. The high biologically equivalent dose delivered
6 with SBRT and low incidence of local failure events likely minimizes the likelihood of
7 detecting a histological difference in radiosensitivity, particularly in small series. Further
8 study of TC by tumor histology will likely require pooled analyses of larger SBRT
9 datasets.

10

11 The most interesting finding of this study was an association between *KRAS*
12 mutation status with FFR and CSS. The role of *KRAS* mutation status as a potential
13 prognostic and predictive marker for early stage NSCLC remains controversial. A recent
14 pooled analysis of multiple adjuvant chemotherapy trials demonstrated that *KRAS*
15 mutation status was not prognostic, but codon 13 *KRAS* mutation was possibly
16 predictive of decreased response to chemotherapy (HR = 5.78; 95% CI, 2.06 to 16.2;
17 $P < 0.001$; interaction $P = 0.002$).¹⁵ In our study, there was no clear association between
18 primary TC and *KRAS* mutations status, but the high dose delivered with SBRT may
19 obscure any underlying variability in radiation responsiveness that may be imparted by
20 tumor genotype, and the low number of primary tumor recurrence events with SBRT also
21 reduces the power to detect any such association. However, our study demonstrated an
22 association between *KRAS* mutation status and both CSS and risk of any recurrence.
23 However, given the small sample size, this hypothesis generating results must be further
24 studied in a larger dataset before *KRAS* genotype can be utilized as a prognostic
25 biomarker among patients treated with SBRT. Since our study and other published
26 SBRT series demonstrate that distant metastases and regional nodes are the

Ray 9/20/14 3:44 PM
Deleted: , which suggests that there may be a
role for

1 predominant sites of failure,^{1-3, 6} potential biomarkers such as *KRAS* mutation status that
2 identify patients at high risk for such recurrence may help guide the use of adjuvant
3 therapy, and may be particularly important in the medically ill subset of patients treated
4 with SBRT. ▾

Ray 9/20/14 3:44 PM
Deleted: Regardless, these findings must be validated in a larger dataset.

6 One of the main limitations of this study was incomplete genotyping. There is a
7 possibility that incomplete genotyping may introduce bias, but since *KRAS* mutations are
8 present in approximately 20% of adenocarcinomas, it is likely that the incomplete
9 genotyping would bias the results toward the null, since there would be patients with
10 undetected *KRAS* in the control group. Another unusual finding was the high incidence
11 of *KRAS* mutations (70%: n=7) in the subset of patients (n=10) who had tumor
12 genotyping, which may have been due to chance or possibly due to the heavy smoking
13 history in this patient population (>95% were smokers with median 50 pack-years
14 history). Thus, the association between outcomes and *KRAS* mutation status must be
15 interpreted with caution due the potential for confounding given the unexpectedly high
16 incidence of *KRAS* mutation in the genotyped cohort, and the association between
17 *KRAS* mutation and larger tumor size in this study.

18
19 _____ Additionally, less common genotypic subgroups such as patients with *EGFR*-
20 mutant or *ALK*-translocated tumors could not be analyzed in this cohort due to small
21 numbers and lack of testing, which was not clinically-indicated due to the low incidence
22 of alterations of these genes in a group of patients with heavy smoking. Similarly, this
23 study was conducted in an era where clinical genotyping involved only a limited panel of
24 genes (*KRAS*, *EGFR*, and *ALK*), and thus, co-mutations in genes that are known to alter
25 the underlying biology of *KRAS* mutant tumors such as *LKB1* and *p53* were not
26 genotyped.²² Clearly, further studies analyzing outcomes after SBRT by genotyping

Ray 9/20/14 3:48 PM
Deleted: tumor responsiveness to

1 *KRAS* and a more comprehensive set of associated genes are needed, but may be
2 limited by the difficulty of obtaining sufficient tumor samples in the medically inoperable
3 subset of patients with NSCLC. For instance, in this study, the majority of patients
4 underwent fine-needle aspiration which precluded additional genetic analyses.
5 Additionally, due to concerns for significant potential biopsy-related morbidity (e.g.
6 pneumothorax) among these medically ill patients, many patients treated with SBRT do
7 not have a pathological diagnosis, but are treated with a radiographic diagnosis only.⁶
8 This underscores the need for cooperation and coordination between multiple centers to
9 comprehensively genotype patients undergoing SBRT who have biopsy specimens
10 available.

Ray 9/20/14 3:49 PM

Deleted: D

11

12 **CONCLUSIONS:**

13 In this series of patients with medically inoperable early stage NSCLC who were
14 treated with SBRT, there was no significant difference in outcomes by histology. A small
15 *KRAS-mutant* sub-group had a significantly higher risk of recurrence on univariable
16 analysis and cancer-specific mortality on multivariable analysis compared to patients
17 with wild-type or unknown *KRAS* status. Differences in outcomes after SBRT by *KRAS*
18 genotype is worthy of further study, but, further study may be limited by the difficulty of
19 obtaining sufficient tumor samples in the medically inoperable subset of patients with
20 NSCLC.

Ray 9/20/14 3:52 PM

Deleted:

Ray 9/20/14 3:52 PM

Deleted: and mechanisms of recurrence such as intrinsic radioresistance or extent of microscopic disease should be explored. However

21

22 **CLINICAL PRACTICE POINTS:**

23 SBRT remains an important treatment for early stage NSCLC. Tumor
24 genotyping of patients with NSCLC may yield further insight into radiation response of
25 molecular sub-types of NSCLC and provide information for future trials of adjuvant or
26 salvage targeted therapies in high risk patients.

Ray 9/20/14 3:57 PM

Deleted: t

1

2 **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:**

3 None

1 **REFERENCES:**

- 2 1. Baumann P, Nyman J, Hoyer M, Wennberg B, Gagliardi G, Lax I, Drugge N,
3 Ekberg L, Friesland S, Johansson KA, Lund JA, Morhed E, Nilsson K, Levin N,
4 Paludan M, Sederholm C, Traberg A, Wittgren L, Lewensohn R. Outcome in a
5 prospective phase II trial of medically inoperable stage I non-small-cell lung
6 cancer patients treated with stereotactic body radiotherapy. *J Clin Oncol*
7 2009;27: 3290-3296.
- 8 2. Timmerman R, Paulus R, Galvin J, Michalski J, Straube W, Bradley J, Fakiris A,
9 Bezjak A, Videtic G, Johnstone D, Fowler J, Gore E, Choy H. Stereotactic body
10 radiation therapy for inoperable early stage lung cancer. *JAMA* 2010;303: 1070-
11 1076.
- 12 3. Fakiris AJ, McGarry RC, Yiannoutsos CT, Papiez L, Williams M, Henderson MA,
13 Timmerman R. Stereotactic body radiation therapy for early-stage non-small-cell
14 lung carcinoma: four-year results of a prospective phase II study. *Int J Radiat*
15 *Oncol Biol Phys* 2009;75: 677-682.
- 16 4. Onishi H, Araki T, Shirato H, Nagata Y, Hiraoka M, Gomi K, Yamashita T, Niibe
17 Y, Karasawa K, Hayakawa K, Takai Y, Kimura T, Hirokawa Y, Takeda A, Ouchi
18 A, Hareyama M, Kokubo M, Hara R, Itami J, Yamada K. Stereotactic
19 hypofractionated high-dose irradiation for stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma:
20 clinical outcomes in 245 subjects in a Japanese multiinstitutional study. *Cancer*
21 2004;101: 1623-1631.
- 22 5. Grills IS, Mangona VS, Welsh R, Chmielewski G, McInerney E, Martin S, Wloch
23 J, Ye H, Kestin LL. Outcomes after stereotactic lung radiotherapy or wedge
24 resection for stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 2011;28: 928-935.

- 1 6. Senthil S, Lagerwaard FJ, Haasbeek CJ, Slotman BJ, Senan S. Patterns of
2 disease recurrence after stereotactic ablative radiotherapy for early stage non-
3 small-cell lung cancer: a retrospective analysis. *Lancet Oncol* 2012;13: 802-809.
- 4 7. Ding L, Getz G, Wheeler DA, Mardis ER, McLellan MD, Cibulskis K, Sougnez C,
5 Greulich H, Muzny DM, Morgan MB, Fulton L, Fulton RS, Zhang Q, Wendl MC,
6 Lawrence MS, Larson DE, Chen K, Dooling DJ, Sabo A, Hawes AC, Shen H,
7 Jhangiani SN, Lewis LR, Hall O, Zhu Y, Mathew T, Ren Y, Yao J, Scherer SE,
8 Clerc K, Metcalf GA, Ng B, Milosavljevic A, Gonzalez-Garay ML, Osborne JR,
9 Meyer R, Shi X, Tang Y, Koboldt DC, Lin L, Abbott R, Miner TL, Pohl C, Fewell
10 G, Haippek C, Schmidt H, Dunford-Shore BH, Kraja A, Crosby SD, Sawyer CS,
11 Vickery T, Sander S, Robinson J, Winckler W, Baldwin J, Chirieac LR, Dutt A,
12 Fennell T, Hanna M, Johnson BE, Onofrio RC, Thomas RK, Tonon G, Weir BA,
13 Zhao X, Ziaugra L, Zody MC, Giordano T, Orringer MB, Roth JA, Spitz MR,
14 Wistuba II, Ozenberger B, Good PJ, Chang AC, Beer DG, Watson MA, Ladanyi
15 M, Broderick S, Yoshizawa A, Travis WD, Pao W, Province MA, Weinstock GM,
16 Varmus HE, Gabriel SB, Lander ES, Gibbs RA, Meyerson M, Wilson RK.
17 Somatic mutations affect key pathways in lung adenocarcinoma. *Nature*
18 2008;455: 1069-1075.
- 19 8. Maemondo M, Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Sugawara S, Oizumi S, Isobe H, Gemma
20 A, Harada M, Yoshizawa H, Kinoshita I, Fujita Y, Okinaga S, Hirano H, Yoshimori
21 K, Harada T, Ogura T, Ando M, Miyazawa H, Tanaka T, Saijo Y, Hagiwara K,
22 Morita S, Nukiwa T. Gefitinib or chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer with
23 mutated EGFR. *N Engl J Med* 2010;362: 2380-2388.
- 24 9. Mitsudomi T, Morita S, Yatabe Y, Negoro S, Okamoto I, Tsurutani J, Seto T,
25 Satouchi M, Tada H, Hirashima T, Asami K, Katakami N, Takada M, Yoshioka H,
26 Shibata K, Kudoh S, Shimizu E, Saito H, Toyooka S, Nakagawa K, Fukuoka M.

- 1 Gefitinib versus cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with non-small-cell lung
2 cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor
3 (WJTOG3405): an open label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2010;11:
4 121-128.
- 5 10. Mok TS, Wu YL, Thongprasert S, Yang CH, Chu DT, Saijo N, Sunpaweravong P,
6 Han B, Margono B, Ichinose Y, Nishiwaki Y, Ohe Y, Yang JJ, Chewaskulyong B,
7 Jiang H, Duffield EL, Watkins CL, Armour AA, Fukuoka M. Gefitinib or
8 carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. *N Engl J Med* 2009;361:
9 947-957.
- 10 11. Lortot Y, Mordant P, Deutsch E, Olausson KA, Soria JC. Are RAS mutations
11 predictive markers of resistance to standard chemotherapy? *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*
12 2009;6: 528-534.
- 13 12. Marks JL, Broderick S, Zhou Q, Chitale D, Li AR, Zakowski MF, Kris MG, Rusch
14 VW, Azzoli CG, Seshan VE, Ladanyi M, Pao W. Prognostic and therapeutic
15 implications of EGFR and KRAS mutations in resected lung adenocarcinoma. *J*
16 *Thorac Oncol* 2008;3: 111-116.
- 17 13. Cuffe S, Bourredjem A, Graziano S, Pignon JP, Domerg C, Ezzalfani M,
18 Seymour L, Strevel E, Burkes R, Capelletti M, Janne PA, Tsao MS, Shepherd
19 FA. A pooled exploratory analysis of the effect of tumor size and KRAS mutations
20 on survival benefit from adjuvant platinum-based chemotherapy in node-negative
21 non-small cell lung cancer. *J Thorac Oncol* 2012;7: 963-972.
- 22 14. Chaft JE, Rusch V, Ginsberg MS, Paik PK, Finley DJ, Kris MG, Price KA, Azzoli
23 CG, Fury MG, Riely GJ, Krug LM, Downey RJ, Bains MS, Sima CS, Rizk N,
24 Travis WD, Rizvi NA. Phase II Trial of Neoadjuvant Bevacizumab Plus
25 Chemotherapy and Adjuvant Bevacizumab in Patients with Resectable

- 1 Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancers. *J Thorac Oncol* 2013;8: 1084-
2 1090.
- 3 15. Shepherd FA, Domerg C, Hainaut P, Janne PA, Pignon JP, Graziano S,
4 Douillard JY, Brambilla E, Le Chevalier T, Seymour L, Bourredjem A, Le Teuff G,
5 Pirker R, Filipits M, Rosell R, Kratzke R, Bandarchi B, Ma X, Capelletti M, Soria
6 JC, Tsao MS. Pooled analysis of the prognostic and predictive effects of KRAS
7 mutation status and KRAS mutation subtype in early-stage resected non-small-
8 cell lung cancer in four trials of adjuvant chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol* 2013;31:
9 2173-2181.
- 10 16. Schiller JH, Adak S, Feins RH, Keller SM, Fry WA, Livingston RB, Hammond
11 ME, Wolf B, Sabatini L, Jett J, Kohman L, Johnson DH. Lack of prognostic
12 significance of p53 and K-ras mutations in primary resected non-small-cell lung
13 cancer on E4592: a Laboratory Ancillary Study on an Eastern Cooperative
14 Oncology Group Prospective Randomized Trial of Postoperative Adjuvant
15 Therapy. *J Clin Oncol* 2001;19: 448-457.
- 16 17. Slebos RJ, Kibbelaar RE, Dalesio O, Kooistra A, Stam J, Meijer CJ, Wagenaar
17 SS, Vanderschueren RG, van Zandwijk N, Mooi WJ, et al. K-ras oncogene
18 activation as a prognostic marker in adenocarcinoma of the lung. *N Engl J Med*
19 1990;323: 561-565.
- 20 18. Mak RH, Doran E, Muzikansky A, Kang J, Neal JW, Baldini EH, Choi NC, Willers
21 H, Jackman DM, Sequist LV. Outcomes After Combined Modality Therapy for
22 EGFR-Mutant and Wild-Type Locally Advanced NSCLC. *Oncologist* 2011;16:
23 886-895.
- 24 19. Mak RH, Doran E, Muzikansky A, Neal JW, Baldini EH, Choi NC, Willers H,
25 Jackman DM, Sequist LV. KRAS Mutation is Associated with Decreased Overall
26 Survival after Thoracic Radiation Therapy in Patients with Locally Advanced Non-

- 1 small Cell Lung Cancer. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology * Biology *
2 Physics* 2010;78: S36.
- 3 20. Ahn HK, Choi YL, Han JH, Ahn YC, Kim K, Kim J, Shim YM, Um SW, Kim H,
4 Kwon OJ, Sun JM, Ahn JS, Park K, Ahn MJ. Epidermal growth factor receptor
5 mutation and treatment outcome of mediastinoscopic N2 positive non-small cell
6 lung cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy followed by
7 surgery. *Lung Cancer* 2013;79: 300-306.
- 8 21. Eberhard DA, Johnson BE, Amler LC, Goddard AD, Heldens SL, Herbst RS, Ince
9 WL, Janne PA, Januario T, Johnson DH, Klein P, Miller VA, Ostland MA, Ramies
10 DA, Sebisanoovic D, Stinson JA, Zhang YR, Seshagiri S, Hillan KJ. Mutations in
11 the epidermal growth factor receptor and in KRAS are predictive and prognostic
12 indicators in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer treated with chemotherapy
13 alone and in combination with erlotinib. *J Clin Oncol* 2005;23: 5900-5909.
- 14 22. Ji H, Ramsey MR, Hayes DN, Fan C, McNamara K, Kozlowski P, Torrice C, Wu
15 MC, Shimamura T, Perera SA, Liang MC, Cai D, Naumov GN, Bao L, Contreras
16 CM, Li D, Chen L, Krishnamurthy J, Koivunen J, Chirieac LR, Padera RF,
17 Bronson RT, Lindeman NI, Christiani DC, Lin X, Shapiro GI, Janne PA, Johnson
18 BE, Meyerson M, Kwiatkowski DJ, Castrillon DH, Bardeesy N, Sharpless NE,
19 Wong KK. LKB1 modulates lung cancer differentiation and metastasis. *Nature*
20 2007;448: 807-810.
- 21

1 **FIGURE LEGENDS:**

2 **Figure 1:** Outcomes by KRAS mutation status including: (A) Kaplan-Meier plot of overall
3 survival; (B) Kaplan-Meier plot of freedom from any recurrence; (C) Cumulative
4 incidence plot of death due to cancer with death due to other causes as a competing
5 risk.